

# MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the  
**LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY**  
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library  
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from scanned originals with text recognition applied  
(searchable text may contain some errors and/or omissions)

LAWS  
OF THE  
STATE OF MAINE  
AS PASSED BY THE  
One Hundred and Sixth Legislature  
1ST SPECIAL SESSION  
JANUARY 2, 1974 TO MARCH 29, 1974  
AND BY THE  
One Hundred and Seventh Legislature  
REGULAR SESSION  
JANUARY 1, 1975 TO JULY 2, 1975

PUBLISHED BY THE DIRECTOR OF LEGISLATIVE RESEARCH IN  
ACCORDANCE WITH THE REVISED STATUTES OF 1964, TITLE 3,  
SECTION 164, SUBSECTION 6.

---

THE KNOWLTON AND MCLEARY COMPANY  
FARMINGTON, MAINE  
1975

---

---

PUBLIC LAWS  
OF THE  
STATE OF MAINE

AS PASSED BY THE  
One Hundred and Seventh Legislature

1975

---

---

## § 1215. Rules and regulations

The Director of the Bureau of Public Lands is authorized to promulgate any rules and regulations concerning the organization of the Coastal Island Registry, the procedure by which registrations are to be presented to and reviewed by the Bureau of Public Lands and in any other area necessary to carry out the purpose of this chapter.

Sec. 12. 33 MRSA § 1217, last sentence, as last amended by PL 1973, c. 460, § 18, is repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

The Director of the Bureau of Public Lands is authorized to accept funding from federal or other public or private sources to carry out the purposes of this chapter.

Sec. 13. 33 MRSA § 1218 is enacted to read:

## § 1218. Fraudulent registration

Any person who knowingly registers a coastal island, not being the true owner of such island, with the intent of fraudulently obtaining an interest in such island, or with the purpose of deceiving the State as to ownership of such island or to otherwise deceive, deprive, obtain or misrepresent ownership of such island shall be punished in accordance with the provisions of Title 17, section 1603-A, fraud against the State.

Effective October 1, 1975

---

---

## CHAPTER 510

### AN ACT to Clarify Certain Provisions in the Education Laws.

**Emergency preamble.** Whereas, Acts of the Legislature do not become effective until 90 days after adjournment unless enacted as emergencies; and

Whereas, some Acts enacted by the Legislature have created inconsistencies and technical errors; and

Whereas, such inconsistencies and errors will create uncertainties and confusion in interpreting legislative intent; and

Whereas, in the judgment of the Legislature, these facts create an emergency within the meaning of the Constitution of Maine and require the following legislation as immediately necessary for the preservation of the public peace, health and safety; now, therefore,

*Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:*

Sec. 1. 20 MRSA § 153, 6th sentence is amended to read:

Said joint committee, at the time of its organization or as soon thereafter as possible, and whenever a vacancy shall occur, shall, subject to the conditions provided, choose ~~by ballot~~ a superintendent of schools for a term of not more

than 5 years and the term for which a superintendent is elected shall, in all cases, end on the 30th day of June of the year in which the contract expires. The votes of the individual members of the joint committee shall be cast on a weighted basis in proportion to the population of the town or unit represented as compared with the total population of the towns and units comprising the joint board. To become effective all actions of the joint committee must be approved by a vote which represents more than half of the population comprising the towns and units which make up the joint board.

Sec. 2. 20 MRSA § 153, 10th sentence, as amended by PL 1967, c. 425, § 19, is further amended to read:

The election of a superintendent of schools shall not be effective, unless said election shall be approved by the school committee of the ~~town~~ unit in the said union having a majority of the teachers in the ~~towns~~ units comprising the union and paying not less than  $\frac{1}{2}$  of the salary ~~exclusive of any sums paid by the State for the purpose.~~

Sec. 3. 20 MRSA § 154, last 2 sentences, as amended, are repealed.

Sec. 4. 20 MRSA § 155, 3rd sentence is amended to read:

Annually, in the month of ~~June~~ December or whenever a superintendent of schools is chosen, the chairman and secretary pro tempore of the committee or board of education shall certify to the commissioner, upon forms prescribed by him, all facts relative to the employment of a superintendent, including the amount of the salary to be paid.

Sec. 5. 20 MRSA § 155, 4th sentence, as amended by PL 1971, c. 530, § 3, is repealed.

Sec. 6. 20 MRSA § 157, is amended to read:

#### § 157. Reimbursements

Whenever the schools of any administrative unit shall be placed under the supervision of agents of the commissioner, as provided by section 156, the treasurer of said administrative unit shall pay to ~~the Treasurer of State a sum which shall be at the rate of \$25 annually for each teaching position in said administrative unit, and the amount so received shall be credited to the General Fund~~ said agent a sum agreed upon by the agent and that unit. In case of dispute, the commissioner shall determine the amount to be so paid.

Sec. 7. 20 MRSA § 220, 3rd ¶, as enacted by PL 1973, c. 556, § 2, is amended by adding at the end the following:

The Commissioner of Educational and Cultural Services shall have the responsibility of approving or disapproving all school bus purchases, contracts and leases. The school directors are authorized to procure short-term loans not to exceed 3 years for the purchase of school buses when such authorization has been approved at the annual budget meeting.

Sec. 8. 20 MRSA § 223, as last amended by PL 1971, c. 530, § 6, is further amended to read:

## § 223. Regulations

Subject to this chapter and sections 1901, 1902, 3456, 3457 to 3460 and ~~3731 to 3734~~ 3711 to 3716, the State Board of Education may make such reasonable regulations as it may find necessary for carrying out the purposes, provisions and intent of these sections.

**Sec. 9.** 20 MRSA § 304, 2nd ¶, 1st 2 sentences, as repealed and replaced by PL 1973, c. 783, § 9, are amended to read:

The aggregate principal amount of bonds or notes issued by a School Administrative District for capital outlay purposes shall not exceed, at any one time outstanding, the limit of indebtedness of the sum of ~~12½%~~ 10% of the total of the last preceding state valuation of all the municipalities, plus an amount to be set by the State Board of Education at the time of the initial approval of the school construction project not to exceed ~~7½%~~ 4% of the state valuation of the participating municipalities. Any indebtedness in excess of ~~12½%~~ 10% incurred under the law, as it existed prior to the effective date of this Act, is hereby validated.

**Sec. 10.** 20 MRSA § 304, 2nd ¶, 4th sentence, as last amended by PL 1969, c. 511, § 1, is further amended to read:

The percentage limit of the indebtedness for bonds or notes for capital outlay purposes authorized after April 27, 1967 shall be fixed as of the time of authorization by the voters or, if no district meeting is held to authorize such bonds or notes, upon the expiration of 35 days following passage of a resolution of the board of school directors as described in the last 2 paragraphs of this section, provided that if the issuance of such bonds or notes together with all outstanding indebtedness included within the district's limit of indebtedness would cause the district's indebtedness included within such limit to exceed ~~12½%~~ 10% of the total of the last preceding state valuation of all the participating towns, the board of school directors shall not issue any of such bonds or notes unless they shall first have received a certificate of approval pursuant to section 3458.

**Sec. 11.** 20 MRSA § 305, 6th sentence, as last amended by PL 1969, c. 589, § 3, is further amended to read:

If a budget for the operation of the School Administrative District is not approved prior to ~~the 3rd month in any given fiscal year~~ June 1st, the budget as submitted by the school directors for operational expenses, reserve fund and capital outlay purposes shall be automatically considered the budget approved for operational expenses in the ensuing year, and the other amounts submitted for payment of bonds falling due and interest thereon, including temporary loans for capital purposes and rentals and other charges provided in any contract, lease or agreement with the Maine School Building Authority, shall be added together and the total amount assessed as follows.

**Sec. 12.** 20 MRSA § 306, as last amended by PL 1973, c. 750, § 7, is further amended by adding after the 2nd sentence the following:

When any school fails to maintain an average daily attendance for any school year of at least 8 pupils, it shall be closed. The voters at the annual budget meeting acting on an appropriate article may vote to raise money to keep the school open.

Sec. 13. 20 MRSA § 351, 3rd ¶ is repealed as follows:

Article ..... To see if the town will vote that the district be authorized to acquire and hold property of a value not in excess of \$..... for the purpose of operating (name type of school or school)

Sec. 14. 20 MRSA § 351, next to last paragraph, as last amended by PL 1973, c. 783, § 11, is further amended to read:

The clerk in each of the several towns shall file a return of such votes with the State Board of Education. If a majority of those voting in each of the towns shall favor each of the 3 propositions, the inhabitants of and the territory within said towns shall thereupon become a community school district, which shall, subject to the provisions hereof, bear the name so determined upon and shall have authority to acquire and hold property and to borrow money not in excess of the respective amounts so determined upon authorized. The inhabitants of the participating towns in meetings similarly called and held may vote to change the name of the school district, or to increase the maximum amount of property to be held by the school district or the maximum amount of money which the school district may borrow.

Sec. 15. 20 MRSA § 352, 3rd ¶, as amended by PL 1973, c. 571, § 25-A, is further amended to read:

When the corporation is thus organized, the trustees shall make a return to the State Board of Education setting forth the fact of the organization of the district, the names of the trustees and the officers thereof, the amount of property it is authorized to acquire and hold and the amount of its borrowing power.

Sec. 16. 20 MRSA § 352, 4th ¶, 2nd sentence, is amended to read as follows:

Whenever the membership of a community school district is changed by the addition of new territory or by appointment, election or resignation of trustees or otherwise, a return to that effect shall promptly be so filed.

Sec. 17. 20 MRSA § 354, 2nd sentence, as last amended by PL 1971, c. 567, § 2, is further amended to read:

To procure funds for capital outlay purposes, the trustees of said district are authorized to issue bonds and notes of the district, not to exceed in the aggregate at any one time outstanding, the limit of indebtedness of said district as established under section 351 or ~~10 1/2%~~ 10% of the total of the last preceding state valuation of all of the participating towns, whichever is the lesser.

Sec. 18. 20 MRSA § 358, 2nd ¶, as enacted by PL 1973, c. 556, § 3, is amended by adding at the end the following new sentences.

The Commissioner of Educational and Cultural Services shall have the responsibility of approving or disapproving all school bus purchases, contracts and leases. The school committee is authorized to procure short-term loans not to exceed 3 years for the purchase of school buses when such authorization has been approved at the annual budget meeting. Total expenditures for purchases of school buses used in transportation of elementary and secondary students approved by the Commissioner of Educational and Cultural Services

during any single year shall not exceed \$3,000,000. The amount of this limitation shall be reviewed annually by the Legislature to see if a change is warranted.

Sec. 19. 20 MRSA § 362, 2nd ¶, first sentence, as enacted by PL 1971, c. 567, § 3, is amended to read:

The annual budget meeting shall be called ~~for the 3rd Monday in March on or before June 1st~~ at an hour and in a location within the district to be designated by the board of trustees.

Sec. 20. 20 MRSA § 851, last ¶, as last amended by PL 1971, c. 530, § 10-A, is repealed.

Sec. 21. 20 MRSA § 911, 6th sentence, as amended by PL 1967, c. 425, § 19, is repealed as follows:

~~The school committee or school directors may exclude from the public schools any child whose physical or mental condition makes it inexpedient for him to attend.~~

Sec. 22. 20 MRSA § 1281, sub-§ 2, as amended by PL 1969, c. 440, § 9, is repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

2. Length of school day. It has a school day of sufficient length to allow the operation of its educational program as approved by the commissioner.

Sec. 23. 20 MRSA § 1902, 1st sentence, as last amended by PL 1973, c. 255, is repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

Whenever any certified teacher completes, within any 2-year period, 6 credit hours of additional professional work approved by the superintendent, the teacher shall receive an amount of not less than \$100 from the administrative unit.

Sec. 24. 20 MRSA § 2210, 1st ¶, as last amended by PL 1973, c. 571, § 72, is repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

An Indian Scholarship Committee set up by the Department of Educational and Cultural Services shall, at its discretion, approve all grants under this chapter. The composition of the Indian Scholarship Committee shall be as follows: The superintendent of schools of Maine Indian Education; 2 representatives of the Passamaquoddy Tribe, chosen by joint session of the tribal councils of Indian Township and Pleasant Point; 2 representatives of the Penobscot Tribe, chosen by the tribal council of the Penobscot Tribe; 2 representatives of the Association of Aroostook Indians, Inc., chosen by the board of directors of the Association of Aroostook Indians, Inc.; and a representative of the Chancellor of the University of Maine. The term of service of each member of the Indian Scholarship Committee will be for one, 2 or 3 years as determined by the appointing authority.

Sec. 25. 20 MRSA § 2311, last sentence, as enacted by PL 1973, c. 635, § 1, is amended to read:



Individual grants shall not exceed ~~\$750~~ \$900 per school year.

Sec. 26. 20 MRSA § 2452, sub-§ 2, as last amended by PL 1973, c. 571, § 72, is repealed.

Sec. 27. 20 MRSA § 3452, sub-§ 7 is enacted to read:

7. School principal. Public school principals shall supervise the operation and management of the school or schools and property as the superintendent shall determine necessary under policy established by the board of school directors or the school committee.

Sec. 28. 20 MRSA § 3461, as enacted by PL 1973, c. 154, § 4, is repealed.

Sec. 29. 20 MRSA § 3561, next to last ¶, as enacted by PL 1973, c. 556, § 4, is amended by adding at the end the following new sentences:

The Commissioner of Educational and Cultural Services shall have the responsibility of approving or disapproving all school bus purchases, contracts and leases. The school committee is authorized to procure short-term loans not to exceed 3 years for the purchase of school buses when such authorization has been approved at the annual budget meeting. Total expenditures for purchases of school buses used in transportation of elementary and secondary students approved by the Commissioner of Educational and Cultural Services during any single year shall not exceed \$3,000,000. The amount of this limitation shall be reviewed annually by the Legislature to see if a change is warranted.

Sec. 30. 20 MRSA § 3713, sub-§ 14, is enacted to read:

14. Any administrative unit without a previous year's pupil count or with new pupils moving in may be permitted to appropriate from a subsidy allocation determined by the commissioner an amount of money not to exceed the average per pupil allocation of the State times the number of pupils, plus an amount for transportation to be approved by the commissioner. Such an appropriation may not exceed the State assessed uniform school tax of the unit.

Sec. 31. 20 MRSA § 3713, first ¶, next to last sentence, as last repealed and replaced by PL 1975, c. 272, § 20, is amended to read:

Fifty percent of the sum shall come from state tax ~~sources~~ appropriations and 50% of the sum from the uniform school tax.

Sec. 32. 20 MRSA § 3713, sub-§ 1, ¶ C, sub-¶ (1) as last repealed and replaced by PL 1975, c. 272, § 21, is amended to read:

(1) Expenditures for special education programs operated or contracted for by the administrative unit ~~less expenditures for tuition or board, or both, paid by the unit;~~

Sec. 33. 20 MRSA § 3713, sub-§ 2, first ¶, 2nd sentence, as last repealed and replaced by PL 1975, c. 272, § 22, is repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

The commissioner shall authorize payments of aid to the various administrative units in the amount of the subsidy allocation and any adjustments in such allocation within the time frames required in section 3455 and sections 3457 to 3460.

Sec. 34. 20 MRSA § 3713, sub-§ 9, last sentence, as enacted by PL 1973, c. 556, § 1, is repealed as follows:

~~Any excess above this amount shall be returned to the Treasurer of State~~

Sec. 35. 20 MRSA § 3713, sub-§ 11, last ¶, first sentence, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 272, § 31, is amended to read:

No municipality shall appropriate toward total education costs an amount exceeding the local allocation under this section, supplemented by any amounts raised under subsection 3, paragraph B, and under subsection 9 11.

Sec. 36. 20 MRSA § 3713, sub-§ 13, first ¶, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 272, § 31, is amended to read:

If any administrative unit has raised the maximum local leeway, as authorized under subsection 11, such unit may appropriate additional funds as needed to maintain its average elementary or secondary per pupil operating costs at the same level as computed under section 3713, subsection 3, ~~paragraphs A and~~ paragraph B.

Sec. 37. 29 MRSA § 1368, sub-§ 1, last sentence, as last amended by PL 1973, c. 222, § 5, is further amended to read:

Nothing herein shall limit the use of lights showing a red beam of light to the front or rear of school buses provided said lights are of a type approved by the Commissioner of Educational and Cultural Services as stated in section ~~2011 of this Title~~ 2012.

Sec. 38. 29 MRSA § 2013, sub-§ 1, ¶ C, as enacted by PL 1973, c. 780, § 4, is amended to read:

C. Meet all special physical, mental and moral requirements established by the Commissioner of Educational and Cultural Services and must pass an annual physical examination, with the cost of such examination being borne by the employer;

Sec. 39. 29 MRSA § 2014, sub-§ 1, last sentence, as enacted by PL 1973, c. 780, § 4, is amended to read:

Effective September 1, 1977 seating shall be provided that will permit each occupant to sit in a ~~seat in a plain~~ plain view lateral location.

Sec. 40. 29 MRSA § 2014, sub-§ 2, 1st sentence, as enacted by PL 1973, c. 780, § 4, is amended to read:

All school buses shall be equipped with at least 2 doors; one door on the right side near the front for all ordinary exits and entrances, and a 2nd door to be

located in the center of the rear end of the vehicle or at some point along the left side of the vehicle in the center or to the rear of center if the engine is so located as to make it impossible to place the door in the center of the rear end.

Sec. 41. 29 MRSA § 2019, as enacted by PL 1973, c. 780, § 4, is repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

§ 2019. Overtaking and passing school buses

1. Receiving or discharging passengers. All school bus operators shall activate the system of flashing red lights at least 100 feet before any stop is made to receive or discharge its passengers and such lights shall be continually displayed until after the bus has received or discharged its passengers.

2. Stopping. The operator of a vehicle on a way, upon meeting or overtaking a school bus from either direction which has stopped, with its red lights flashing, on the way to receive or discharge school children, shall stop such vehicle before reaching such school bus and said operator shall not proceed until such school bus resumes motion or until signaled by the school bus operator to proceed.

3. Separated roadways. The operator of a vehicle on a way with roadways separated by curbing or other similar physical barrier need not stop upon meeting or passing a school bus which is stopped, with its red lights flashing, traveling in a lane separated by such barrier from the lane said operator is traveling in, or when upon a limited access highway and the school bus is stopped in a loading zone, which is part of or adjacent to such highway and where pedestrians are not permitted to cross the roadway.

4. Use of flashing red lights restricted. A school bus operator shall not use the system of red flashing lights on a school bus for any purpose other than controlling traffic in connection with the stopping of such a bus for the purpose of receiving or discharging school children.

Sec. 42. PL 1975, c. 272, § 51, 2nd sentence is repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

The Treasurer of State is ordered and directed to pay the amounts listed below on or before July 10, 1975.

Sec. 43. 32 MRSA § 3505, first sentence, as last amended by PL 1975, c. 118, § 3, is further amended to read:

Any person who has been registered with the board for at least 2 years as an apprentice or trainee plumber, or who has satisfactorily completed one academic year in a recognized full time school of plumbing, or any person qualified under Title 20, section 2361, or who has served as a registered or licensed apprentice or trainee plumber in another state for at least 2 years shall, upon payment of a fee of \$3, be entitled to examination and, if found qualified by a majority of the members of the board, shall be licensed as a journeyman plumber and shall receive a certificate thereof under the seal of the board and with the signature of the executive officer, which shall state the facts, and which shall be carried on the person and displayed at any time upon request.

**Sec. 44. Effective date.** Section 43 of this Act shall become effective 91 days after the adjournment of the Legislature.

**Sec. 45.** 36 MRSA § 451, next to the last ¶, last sentence, as last repealed and replaced by PL 1975, c. 272, § 36, is amended to read:

The state tax as determined for a fiscal year is to be divided by 2 to establish the amount of tax for the period July 1st to December 30th 31st or January 1st to June 30th.

**Sec. 46.** 36 MRSA § 452, 2nd ¶, 2nd sentence, as last repealed and replaced by PL 1975, c. 272, § 37, is amended to read:

The State Director of Property Taxation shall send the certification to the municipal ~~officers~~ assessors of each municipality requiring them to assess the sum so certified, according to the law for the assessment of taxes and add the amount of such tax to the amount of county and municipal taxes to be by them assessed in their municipality.

**Sec. 47.** PL 1975, c. 272, § 45, is amended to read:

**Sec. 45. Amended certification.** Notwithstanding the 2nd paragraph of section ~~35~~ 36 of this Act, the Commissioner of Educational and Cultural Services shall amend the certification made on January 31, 1975 to the Director of the Bureau of Property Taxation for public school education costs of 1974-75. Notwithstanding the 2nd paragraph of section ~~35~~ 36 of this Act, the Legislature shall certify by Joint Order the amount which it deems reasonably necessary for the support of public education to the State Director of Property Taxation on or before June 1, 1975.

**Emergency clause.** In view of the emergency cited in the preamble, this Act shall take effect when approved.

Effective June 17, 1975

---

## CHAPTER 511

### AN ACT To Clarify Title to Land Where Marital Release is Omitted from Conveyance.

*Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:*

33 MRSA c. 7, sub-c: VIII is enacted to read:

#### SUBCHAPTER VIII

#### OMITTED MARITAL RELEASE

§ 470. Failure of spouse to join in release of right and interest by descent

If the spouse of a grantor in a conveyance of land fails to join in the conveyance in release of the spouse's right and interest by descent, such spouse and all persons claiming by, through or under such spouse shall be forever